III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The Court below erred by finding that the petitioner 

had a fair trial despite clear and convincing evidence that he 

was given ineffective assistance of counsel. 

The petitioner and his current counsel assert that the 

cumulative effect of trial counsel's failure to familiarize 

themselves with the law of felony murder, failure to retain an 

investigator or any expert witness, failure to subpoena 

witnesses who would have given exculpatory testimony, failure to 

cross-examine the state's experts, failure to request a self 

defense instruction or a Caudill instruction, and failure to 

challenge a glaring discrepancy in the state's evidence 

concerning the location of the alleged murder weapon clearly 

constituted ineffective assistance of counsel and denied him any 

semblance of a fair trial. 

B. The Court below erred by refusing to grant a new 

trial based on the state's presentation of materially misleading 

evidence to the jury that the alleged murder weapon, a 9rnrn Hi

Point handgun, was recovered by the police during their search 

of the trunk of a car at the hospital when in fact it was found 

beside the victim at his residence. 

Patrolman R. S. Gibson, the first police officer to arrive 

at the Flack residence, testified that the 9rnrn Hi-Point pistol 
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was observed by him at the crime scene on the stairway near the 

victim, Matthew Flack, and his father, David Flack, who had 

arrived at the scene before the police. 

There was nothing equivocal about Officer Gibson's 

testimony on that point. In fact, he explained that he was 

familiar with Hi-Point pistols and identified it from a 

photograph at the habeas corpus hearing. He further testified 

that he ejected a shell casing from the weapon and left it and 

the gun at the homicide scene. 

Incredibly, this glaring discrepancy was not recognized by 

trial counsel even though it had "reasonable doubt" written all 

over it. The police testimony at trial that the weapon found 

near the victim was a 9mm Sig Sauer pistol and that the Hi-Point 

pistol was in the trunk of the car, coupled with the 

petitioner's expert's opinion that it was highly unlikely that 

the wound sustained by Matthew Flack was the result of his being 

shot from below by the codefendant, would certainly have raised 

a reasonable doubt in regard to who actually shot Matthew Flack. 

The evidence at trial was that Matthew Flack armed 

himself with a pistol and his friend, Milton Thomas, was at the 

top of the stairway and allegedly left the house through a 

second-floor window after the shots were fired. A fired 

projectile that was found in the second-floor bathroom floor had 
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apparently passed through the bathroom door and was determined 

to have probably been fired from a Sig Sauer pistol. 

C. The Court erred by denying the petitioner a new trial 

despite evidence that the prosecution presented the testimony of 

two material witnesses, and personally vouched for their 

credibility, even though the state and its investigating 

officers knew, or had reason to believe, their testimony was 

false. 

State witness Amanda Shorter, a neighbor of David and 

Matthew Flack, claimed to have witnessed four men getting out of 

a car and changing into dark clothing before going to the back 

door of the Flack residence. She then claimed to have heard 

gunshots a minute or two later and saw the men run to their car 

and leave the scene after two Caucasian women yelled for them to 

wait and got into the back seat. 

This witness did not call 911, the police or anyone else 

after allegedly witnessing those events. Instead, she 

voluntarily came forward 18 days later and gave a statement to 

the police. She later testified at trial and at a transfer 

hearing for a juvenile codefendant. Her versions of the events 

of that night varied in several material respects. In addition, 

no other witness said four men got out of the car and changed 

clothes, and no other witness reported seeing two white women 

get into the car with the defendants. 
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Every other witness, including the police, testified that 

the two white women who had been with the defendants were not at 

the crime scene. They had stayed at an apartment building and 

joined the defendants at the hospital after the shootings. 

After Jasman Montgomery testified for the state, the 

prosecuting attorney vouched for his credibility in his closing 

argument, even though Montgomery initially denied any knowledge 

of the incident, then gave a statement in the presence of his 

attorney saying he was outside the house when he heard a 

gunshot, then he failed a polygraph test administered by a state 

police polygraph examiner, and finally testified at trial that 

he was actually inside the house when the first shot was fired 

and that he fired a shot up the stairway in defense of Brandon 

Flack. 

At the evidentiary hearing in this matter, an expert 

witness for the petitioner testified that Montgomery could not 

have inflicted the gunshot wound sustained by Matthew Flack as 

described by Montgomery and the other state witnesses unless 

Matthew Flack had been standing on his head when he was shot. 

Matthew Flack had an entrance wound above his upper lip. The 

bullet then passed through the bottom of his mouth and entered 

his chest. The fired projectile was recovered during the 

autopsy and was later determined to have been fired from the 9mm 
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Hi-Point pistol that Patrolman Gibson observed and examined at 

the shooting scene. 

D. The Court below erred by not finding that the 

petitioner is entitled to a new trial based on the unfairly 

prejudicial and improper remarks of the prosecuting attorney 

during his closing argument. The prosecutor personally vouched 

for the credibility of codefendant Jasman Montgomery and 

unfairly contrasted his guilty plea and acceptance of 

responsibility with the petitioner's denial of guilt. 

The prosecutor then compared the petitioner to an 

alcoholic who will never get help because he will not admit he 

has a problem. Those improper remarks violated the petitioner's 

consti tutional right to plead not guilty and have a fair trial 

by jury. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


The petitioner, Brandon Flack, is a 25-year-old, African

American man who is serving a life sentence for felony murder 

and an indeterminate sentence of not less than one year nor more 

than five years for conspiracy. The victim in the underlying 

homicide case was the petitioner's first cousin, Matthew Flack. 

Following the omnibus habeas corpus evidentiary hearing in 

the court below, Mercer County Circuit Judge Omar J. Aboulhosn 

denied the petitioner's motions to set aside all of the 

verdicts, enter a judgment of acquittal or grant him a new 

trial. Instead, the court acknowledged that the 40-year 

consecutive sentence for first-degree robbery violated Double 

Jeopardy principles and resentenced the petitioner to life with 

mercy for felony murder and a consecutive sentence of one-to

five years for conspiracy with no additional sentence for 

robbery. 

The respondent did not object to, or appeal from, the 

court's removal of the additional sentence for robbery. 

Despite the serious nature of this case and the complexity 

of the evidence, the petitioner's trial counsel did not retain 

an investigator, a forensic pathologist, a firearms expert, a 

crime scene reconstruction expert or anyone else who could have 

helped prepare a defense for the petitioner. 
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In addition, trial counsel did not attempt to subpoena two 

witnesses who accompanied the petitioner from Pulaski, Virginia, 

to Bluefield, West Virginia, the evening of the alleged 

offenses, and could have completely discredited two material 

state witnesses. 

Trial counsel also failed to familiarize themselves with 

the law of felony murder, failed to request the required Caudill 

instruction prior to the damaging testimony of a codefendant, 

failed to object to the testimony of a medical examiner who did 

not perform the autopsy at issue, and failed to cross-examine 

the state's firearms expert or the lead investigator about 

glaring discrepancies in the state's evidence in regard to the 

location of the murder weapon. 

The petitioner and his counsel assert that he was clearly 

denied a fair trial by the cumulative effect of the multiple 

failures of defense counsel. The petitioner further asserts 

that the numerous reasonable doubts would have been established 

by presenting the testimony of Heather Davis and Ashley 

Burleson, by retaining a firearms/crime scene expert who would 

have established that the victim could not have been shot by the 

petitioner, who was unarmed, or the petitioner's codefendants. 

The petitioner further contends that the prosecuting 

attorney repeatedly expressed his personal opinions about the 

credibility of the codefendant who testified for the state and 
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unfairly commented on the petitioner's exercise of his right to 

plead not guilty by comparing him to an alcoholic who will never 

get help because he will not admit he has a problem. 

The petitioner is asking this Court to enter a judgment of 

acquittal with respect to both the murder and conspiracy counts, 

or, in the alternative, to grant him a new trial. 
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v. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


The petitioner is a 25-year-old African-American man who is 

challenging his convictions for felony murder and conspiracy. 

Following the evidentiary hearing, the Court below denied his 

request for a new trial but did grant his petition in part by 

removing an additional, consecutive 40-year sentence for 

robbery. 

The court correctly concluded that an additional sentence 

for robbery violated Double Jeopardy prohibitions against 

multiple punishments in a felony murder case based upon the 

state's theory that the victim died in ~a robbery gone bad." 

The defendant's convictions were affirmed by this Court in 

his direct appeal that was presented by trial counsel and did 

not address the issues of ineffective assistance of counsel and 

the presentation to the jury of misleading evidence. 

At the evidentiary hearing before Judge Omar Aboulhosn, who 

also presided at trial, the petitioner presented evidence of the 

following material failures of trial counsel: 

Counsel failed to adequately investigate the case, failed 

to become familiar with the applicable law, failed to subpoena 

material witnesses, failed to object to the testimony of the 

medical examiner who did not conduct the autopsy, failed to 

cross-examine the state's experts about material issues, failed 

to retain a crime scene reconstruction expert to challenge the 
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VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

AND DECISION 


The petitioner believes that Rule 19 oral argument is 

necessary and should be permitted in this case. His appeal 

notice and brief allege abuse of discretion in the trial court's 

rulings, errors in the application of settled law , ineffective 

assistance of counsel and the insufficiency of the evidence. The 

petitioner and his counsel do not believe a memorandum decision 

would be appropriate in this case. 

sI1JNE&f H. BELL 

WV State Bar ID No. 300 

Attorney for Brandon Flack, 

the Petitioner. 
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state's evidence, failed to recognize a material discrepancy 

about the location of the alleged murder weapon, failed to 

cross-examine the emergency room physician who treated the 

petitioner and would have testified that he was struck by two 

separate gunshots, failed to request 911 records or cellular 

telephone records that would have discredited two key state 

witnesses, and failed to subpoena two companions of the 

petitioner who would have discredited a key state witness. 

At the omnibus habeas corpus hearing, counsel acknowledged 

being unaware of the cautionary Caudill instruction to be given 

before an accomplice testifies. Counsel compounded this error by 

not obj ecting to the improper bolstering of the codefendant's 

testimony. The prosecutor's first questions went directly to 

the codefendant's guilty plea and life sentence. 

Trial counsel testified that in his opinion the manner in 

which the victim was killed or by whom he was killed was 

irrelevant in a felony murder case. He stated that the 

petitioner could have been convicted of felony murder if the 

victim had died of a heart attack. This misunderstanding of the 

law illustrates why counsel failed to develop any evidence that 

could have easily raised numerous reasonable doubts. 

The relief sought by the petitioner is the granting of a 

new trial or a remand to the Court below for entry of a judgment 

of acquittal on both the felony murder and conspiracy charges. 
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VII. ARGUMENT 


I. 	 PETITIONER CLEARLY DID NOT HAVE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE 
OF COUNSEL AT TRIAL. 

The petitioner is an African-American male who was 21 years old at the time of his arrest 

in this case. The undisputed evidence at trial was that on the offense date he went into the home 

of his cousin, Matthew Flack, without a gun or other weapon. There was no evidence presented 

at trial that anyone was robbed of any money or other property or that any money or other 

property was removed from the house in the course of the alleged crimes. 

The state's witnesses who were present at the scene testified that the petitioner had 

recently visited Matthew Flack at the same house and the two men appeared to get along well. 

There was no evidence of any quarrel, argument, animosity or disagreement between them. 

(A.R., Volume IL pages 55, 56, 101) 

A neighbor of the victim, Amanda Shorter, testified at trial that after 11 p.m. the night of 

January 29,2011, she saw four persons, who were laughing and being loud, walk up to the back 

door of the David FlacklMatthew Flack residence and knock before the door opened and they 

entered the house. No photographic or physical evidence was presented to attempt to show that 

the door was actually kicked open as later described by the state's witnesses. Ms. Shorter also 

testified that the four men started changing into dark clothes and putting toboggans on their 

heads when they got out of the car. (A.R., Volume II, pages 31, 32, 35) 

The state's primary witness at trial, codefendant Jasman Montgomery, denied that they 

changed clothes or put on additional clothes when they exited the car. (A.R., Volume II, page 

185) 
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Ms. Shorter further testified that two Caucasian women ran up to the car and got into the 

back seat before the petitioner and his companions left the scene after she heard two gunshots. 

(A.R., Volume II, page 33) No other witness corroborated that testimony. To the contrary, the 

police determined that the two white women who had accompanied the petitioner and his 

companions to Bluefield had stayed behind at Joe Flack's apartment and were nowhere near the 

crime scene. The women were later brought to Bluefield Regional Medical Center after the 

petitioner was taken there for medical treatment. 

It is important to note that Ms. Shorter did not call 911, the police or anyone else after 

allegedly observing the men go into the home of David and Matthew Flack, hearing two 

gunshots a short time later and watching the men and two women leave the scene. She came 

forward 18 days later and gave a statement to the police. (A.R., Volume III, pages 51-55) The 

petitioner believes and asserts that Ms. Shorter had been told that two white women had traveled 

with him from Pulaski, Virginia, to Bluefield, West Virginia, and she mistakenly assumed that 

they were with him at the scene of the shootings. 

The petitioner's trial counsel made no effort to have Heather Davis or Ashley Burleson 

interviewed prior to the trial or subpoenaed to testify at the trial. Their testimony would have 

discredited the testimony of Ms. Shorter. The petitioner's trial counsel excused that failure by 

stating his belief that Ms. Shorter was the petitioner's best witness. (A.R., Volume III, pages 70

73) The petitioner asserts that this characterization is indicative of the failure to investigate the 

facts and prepare for trial. How could Ms. Shorter be considered a favorable witness when she 

described the petitioner and his companions as putting on dark clothing and hats to disguise their 

appearances before going up to the Flack residence, entering through the back door, gunshots 
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being fired within a minute or two, and their fleeing from the scene in an automobile after being 

joined by two women? 

The petitioner suffered two separate gunshot wounds in the incident. His cousin, 

Matthew Flack, sustained a single gunshot wound that the medical examiner said began in his 

upper lip before traveling through the bottom of his mouth and into his chest. The fired 

projectile was recovered by the medical examiner during the autopsy. 

Codefendant Montgomery told the jury that they had been inside the victim's home for 

about 20 seconds when he heard the gunshot fired by the victim and returned fire in defense of 

the petitioner. The medical examiner also testified that there was no evidence indicating 

Matthew Flack was shot from close range. (A.R.. Volume II, pages 83.84.86.87) 

Despite the complicated crime scene and forensic evidence, trial counsel did not retain an 

investigator, did not retain an expert in any field, including forensic pathology, and did not even 

object to the state's forensic autopsy evidence being elicited from the testimony of a pathologist 

who did not perform the autopsy. (A.R.• Volume III, page 65) 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has held in State ex rei. Carron 

Humphries v. Thomas McBride. Warden, 647 S.E.2d 798 (2007), and recently in David 

Ballard v. David Lee Hurt, No. 13-0283 (2014), that the failure to adequately investigate a 

serious, complex case, the failure to secure the attendance of defense witnesses and the failure to 

object to clearly improper testimony support a fmding that ineffective assistance of counsel 

denied the defendant his constitutional right to a fair trial and require reversal of his convictions. 

This failure in the case at bar to object to the medical examiner's testimony is particularly 

disturbing in light of the state Supreme Court's holdings that allowing such hearsay testimony 

denied the defendant's right of confrontation and was reversible error. State v. Frazier, 229 W. 
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Va. 724, 735 S.E.2d 727 (2012); State v. Kennedy, 229 W. Va. 756, 735 S.E.2d 905 (2012); 

State v. Mechling, 219 W. Va. 366, 633 S.E.2d 311 (2006) 

Trial counsel asked no questions of the state's firearms expert who testified that the 

projectile recovered from the body of the victim was fired from a Hi-Point 9mm semiautomatic 

pistol that codefendant Montgomery said he carried that night. Another fired projectile was 

recovered from the bathroom of the victim's residence, but, according to the state's expert, did 

not display sufficient characteristics to enable him to say which handgun it was fired from. He 

did conclude that it was fired from a Sig Sauer pistol but could not say that it came from one that 

was seized as evidence in this case. (A.R., Volume II, page 170) 

Trial counsel completely missed the discrepancy between the testimony of Patrolman R. 

S. Gibson, who was the first officer on scene and testified clearly at the habeas corpus hearing 

that the Hi-Point pistol was picked up by him at the Flack residence near Matthew Flack's 

person, and the testimony ofLt. C. S. Myers, who testified that the Hi-Point pistol was recovered 

during a search of the trunk ofHeather Davis' car at the hospital. 

With Milton Thomas clearly testifying that Matthew Flack ran up the steps and armed 

himself with a pistol (A.R., Volume II, page 51), and with the firearms expert testifying that the 

bullet recovered from Matthew Flack's body during the autopsy was fired from the Hi-Point 

pistol (A.R, Volume II, page 169), the petitioner asks what happened to the pistol that Matthew 

Flack had and the pistol with which the petitioner was shot? Jasman Montgomery testified that 

the pistols that he and his companions had were put into the trunk of the car. (A.R., Volume II, 

page 190) 

In light of Patrolman Gibson's clear recollection of picking up the Hi-Point at the house 

and ejecting a "stove-piped" shell casing, and his clear identification of the differences in the two 

17 




handguns, the Sig Sauer pistol and the pistol that could not be fired had to be the ones in the 

trunk of the car. (A.R., Volume IlL pages 25-29) The Sig Sauer could have fired the bullet that 

was found in the upstairs bathroom of the Flack house, but it could not have fired the bullet that 

struck Matthew Flack, according to the firearms expert called by the state. (A.R., Volume II, page 

166) 

The failure to adequately investigate the case and the failure to retain experts in this 

complex capital case clearly constituted ineffective assistance of counseL An independent 

firearms expert, an independent pathologist or a crime scene reenactment expert could have 

completely discredited the state's theory of the case and its witnesses' testimony. The

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