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

authority for the proposition that permitting a witness for the State to testify in "inmate orange" 

constitutes ineffective assistance. Moreover, the decision to allow Jasman to do so is easily 

ascribed to trial strategy. There is no question that Jasman Montogmery's testimony, in which he 

explicitly states that he and Petitioner drove to Bluefield for the purpose of "pop [ping] a trunk," 

see (App. Vol. II at 180-181), was highly detrimental to the defense's case. Mr. Lefler engaged 

in a vigorous cross-examination of Jasman, in which he attempted to convince the jury that 

Jasman was desperate to mitigate his life sentence (and thus would say anything the State wanted 

him to say), that he "blamed [Petitioner]" for the entire situation (and thus wanted revenge), and 

that, for various reasons (including the fact that Jasman had seemingly agreed to provide 

favorable testimony in exchange for a mercy recommendation which ensured he would 

eventually be eligible for parole) Jasman's testimony was not credible. See (id. at 191-202). 

Allowing the jury to see Jasman in his prison attire not only reinforced a crucial theme of Mr. 

Lefler's cross, but also subtly reminded the jury that they were listening to the testimony of a 

confessed murderer - and there can be no doubt that a witnesses' criminal history can negatively 

impact the perception of their credibility. See e.g., Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316 

(1974)("One way of discrediting the witness is to introduce evidence of a prior criminal 

conviction of that witness"); see also State v. Blake, 197 W. Va. 700, 478 S.E.2d 550 (1996) 
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(citing Davis). Accordingly, the tactical decision to have Jasman testify in his prison attire was a 

reasonable one, and does not constitute ineffective assistance. 

D) Petitioner was not entitled to a self-defense instruction, and thus the failure to 
request instruction was not ineffective assistance. 

Petitioner argues that trial counsel was deficient when they failed to "request or offer jury 

instructions on self-defense." Pet. Briefat 20. In support of this purported error, Petitioner cites 

State v. Wade, 200 W. Va. 637, 490 S.E.2d 724 (1997), and states that this court "recognize[d] 

that in an appropriate case many jurisdictions have allowed self-defense instructions in felony 

murder cases in which the facts support such a defense." !d. Petitioner overstates what this court 

held in Wade, and fails to cite any authority in support ofhis position. 

In Wade, this court addressed the applicability of self-defense to a felony murder case 

arising from a charge of delivery of a controlled substance. !d. at 645, 490 S.E.2d at 732. As a 

threshold matter, the Wade court explained that "any claim of self defense in response to a 

charge of felony-murder must be asserted with regard to the predicate felony." Id. Addressing the 

jurisprudential foundation of self-defense, the Wade court noted that self-defense is typically 

only available when a criminal defendant is '''not the aggressor. '" Id. (quoting State v. W.J.B., 

166 W.Va. 602, 606, 276 S.E.2d 550, 553 (1981)). The court proceeded to state that it could 

conceive of "no circunlstance[]" where "in light of ... traditional applications of self defense" 

that the doctrine would applicable in the context of a charge of delivery of a controlled 

substance. Wade, 200 W. Va. at 645, 490 S.E.2d at 732. Therefore, the court held that the 

defendant was not entitled to a self-defense instruction. Id. 

The undersigned was unable to find any case in West Virginia in which self-defense was 

successfully asserted as a defense by a criminal defendant charged with burglary, the predicate 

felony in this case. This is unsurprising, given the fact that the "elements of [burglary] do not 
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involve violence to the person." State v. Woodson, 181 W. Va. 325, 330, 382 S.E.2d 519, 524 

(1989). Thus, under the rule as stated in Wade, self-defense would not be available in a felony

murder case predicated on a burglary because self-defense is not a viable defense to the 

underlying charge. 

Moreover, contrary to Petitioner's assertion that the Wade court recognized that "many 

jurisdictions have allowed self-defense instructions in felony murder cases," it should be noted 

that Wade cited to no such cases in the section of the opinion concerning the applicability of self

defense in a felony murder case. The undersigned's review of authority from other jurisdictions 

reveals a strong trend that self-defense is not a defense available to a defendant charged with 

felony murder. See e.g., State v. Lewis, 245 Conn. 779, 809, 717 A.2d 1140, 1157 (1998) 

(holding that felony murder defendant who entered the victims' apartment at 4 a.m. armed with a 

gun "was not entitled to a[] [ self-defense] instruction ... because he was engaged in robbing the 

victims when his purported justification for killing them arose."); State v. McGee, 163 Vt. 162, 

167, 655 A.2d 729, 733 (1995) (holding that felony-murder defendant who killed "while in the 

course of an attempted felony, [] was not entitled to the benefit of self-defense because his own 

conduct brought about the difficulty" that resulted in the death); see also United States v. 

Peterson, 483 F.2d 1222, 1231 (D.C. Cir. 1973) ("It has long been accepted that one cannot 

support a claim of self-defense by a self-generated necessity to kill ... [t]he fact that the 

deceased struck the first blow, fired the first shot or made the first menacing gesture does not 

legalize the self-defense claim if in fact the claimant was the actual provoker."); State v. Scales, 

655 So. 2d 1326, 1336 (La. 1995) ("Since the evidence indicates that defendant brought on a 

difficulty by engaging in an armed robbery at the time of the shooting, he cannot claim the right 

of self-defense."); Commonewealth v. Maguire, 375 Mass. 768, 773, 378 N.E.2d445, 448 (1978) 
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("[I]t has been held that the right to claim self-defense may be forfeited by one who commits an 

armed robbery, even if excessive force is used by the intended victim or by any person 

intervening to prevent the crime or apprehend the robber."); Gray v. State, 463 P.2d 897, 909 

(Alaska 1970)("[A] person who commits a felony [is prevented from] claiming self-defense not 

only to the intended victim of the felony, but also as to any person intervening in an attempt 

either to prevent the crime or to apprehend the criminal."). Nothing in Petitioner's brief, nor 

anything about the particular facts of this case, warrants an expansion of the holding articulated 

in Wade or a new holding that runs contrary to the mass of authority from other jurisdictions. 

Accordingly, it is evident that Petitioner was not entitled to a self-defense instruction, and that 

trial counsel was not ineffective when no such instruction was requested. 

2) The State did not knowingly introduce "false" evidence. The presence of a factual 
disputes or other inconsistency does not necessarily render evidence "false." 

In his brief, Petitioner claims that "the prosecution certainly knew, or had every reason to 

believe, that much of the evidence being used to support its theory of the case was not truthful." 

Pet. Brief at 25. Specifically, Petitioner points to "obvious and material inconsistencies and 

inaccuracies" in the testimony of Amanda Shorter, Jasman Mongotmery's "failed polygraph test" 

and an inconsistency in the testimony of two testifying police officers about the location in 

which the Hi -Point pistol used to kill Matthew Flack was found. Id. Despite Petitioner's 

contentions, he has not provided sufficient evidence demonstrating that the State knowingly or 

recklessly relied on false evidence. 

This court has recognized that "[i]t is a basic principle of law that' [p]rosecutors have a 

duty to the court not to knowingly encourage or present false testimony.'" State ex rei. Franklin 

v. McBride, 226 W. Va. 375,378-79, 701 S.E.2d 97, 100-01 (2009)(quoting State v. Rivera, 210 
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Ariz. 188, 109 P.3d 83, 89 (2005)). In Franklin, this court articulated the standard applicable to a 

claim that the State has relied upon false evidence: 

In order to obtain a new trial on a claim that the prosecutor presented false testimony 
at trial, a defendant must demonstrate that (1) the prosecutor presented false 
testimony, (2) the prosecutor knew or should have known the testimony was false, 
and (3) the false testimony had a material effect on the jury verdict." 

Syl. pt. 2, Franklin, 226 W. Va. at 376, 701 S.E.2d at 98. The first and second prongs of the 

Franklin test require more than the unadorned assertion that the State's evidence was false - the 

Petitioner bears the burden of demonstrating that the evidence was "actually false." See e.g., 

State v. Brown, 210 W. Va. 14, 27, 552 S.E.2d 390, 403 (2001)(per curiam). Making the 

necessary showing of falsity requires a strong substantive showing. See State v. Prophet, 234 W. 

Va. 33, 45, 762 S.E.2d 602, 614 (rejecting a petitioner's claim because there was no "conclusive 

evidence" that the complained-of testimony was false). The existence of inconsistencies between 

a witness's trial testimony and their previous statements, or between the testimony of multiple 

witnesses, is not conclusive evidence of falsity. Jd.; see also Rivera, 210 Ariz. at 192, 109 P.3d 

at 87 ("[I]nconsistencies in witness testimony go not to the admissibility of testimony, but rather 

to the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be accorded to the evidence"); State v. Allen, 

360 N.C. 297, 305, 626 S.E.2d 271, 279 (2006) ("We note today there is a difference between 

the knowing presentation of false testimony and knowing that testimony conflicts in some 

manner. It is for the jury to decide issues of fact when conflicting information is elicited by either 

party."). 

As the forgoing authorities demonstrate, to the extent Petitioner's false evidence claims 

rely solely on inconsistent witness testimony, they cannot succeed. Human beings are not robots 

capable of perfect recall. Nor is it uncommon for a witness's second or third recitation or account 

of events to contain variation from previous recitations. The presence of such inconsistencies 
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may be a sign of falsity, but they may also be completely innocent. Determining when a witness 

is engaging in fabrication as opposed to merely offering a more accurate or complete version of 

events - separating the wheat from the chaff - is a task our system ofjustice allocates to the jury. 

Franklin, 226 W. Va. 375,381, 701 S.E.2d 97, 103 (2009) ('''It [is] the role of the jury to weigh 

the evidence and make credibility assessments after it observed the witnesses and heard their 

testimony. The jury made its determination, and this Court will not second guess it simply 

because we may have assessed the credibility of the witnesses differently."')(quoting Brown, 210 

W. Va. at 27,552 S.E.2d at 403); Rivera, 109 P.3d at 89 ("Absent a showing that the prosecution 

was aware of any false testimony, the credibility of witnesses is for the jury to determine."); see 

also Syl. pt. 3, in part, State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 663, 461 S.E.2d 163, 169 

(1995)("Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court."). Accordingly, 

Petitioner's claims of false evidenc~ arising from the testimony of Amanda Shorter and the 

inconsistent testimony concerning the recovery location of the Hi-Point pistol fail becau~e he has 

not made the requisite showing of falsity. 

Nor is Petitioner's argument concerning Jasman Montgomery's testimony any more 

meritorious. It is simply of no moment that Jasman Montgomery failed a polygraph examination. 

This court has unequivocally held that "[p]olygraph test results are not admissible in evidence in 

a criminal trial in this State." Syl. pt. 2, State v. Frazier, 162 W. Va. 602, 252 S.E.2d 39 (1979); 

State v. Chambers, 194 W. Va. 1,459 S.E.2d 112 (1995) (same); see also People v. McKinnon, 

52 Cal. 4th 610,663,259 P.3d 1186, 1229 (2011) ("[P]olygraph test results do not scientifically 

prove the truth or falsity of the answers given during such tests.") (internal quotation marks 

omitted). Nor is the fact that Jasman Montgomery had a potential motive to lie, standing alone, 

enough to satisfy Petitioner's burden. See Franklin, Brown, supra. Absent a more concrete 
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showing, Petitioner's claim that the State knowingly or recklessly relied on false evidence is 

unavailing. 

3) The prosecuting attorney did not improperly bolster Jasman Montgomery's 
credibility during closing or otherwise make inappropriate comments that warrant 
habeas relief. 

Around the midpoint of his closing argument,8 the prosecuting attorney briefly commented 

on the fact that Jasman Montogmery had accepted responsibility for killing Matthew Flack and 

made an oblique reference his plea agreement. See (App. Vol. II. at 376)("Jasman, I must say, 

Jasman Montgomery, accepted his responsibility and his punishment, life, no guarantee of ever 

being paroled. He has stood up and taken the first step back in accepting his responsibility and 

doing what he can to rectify what he did."). During his rebuttal, the prosecutor made a more 

direct reference to Jasman's plea and again touched on the theme of responsibility. See (id. at 

408-09)("Jasman Montgomery tells you the same thing. Well, gosh, that's because the State has 

bought his testimony. Ladies and gentlemen, he came forward. He told the Judge: '} am guilty of 

murder in the first degree.' This was not a loitering conviction. This was not a light touch. This 

was a man taking responsibility for his behavior and trying to rectify that."). Petitioner claims 

these remarks (as well as the prosecutor's remarks comparing the Petitioner to an alcoholic)9 

were improper. His argument lacks merit. 

8 The prosecutor's closing argument begins on page 367 of the trial transcript, and continues to 
page 382. (App. Vol. II at 367-382). The remarks of which Petitioner complains occur on page 
376 of that transcript. (Id. at 376) 
9 Petitioner makes reference to the prosecutor's comments comparing Petitioner to an alcoholic 
in his assignments of error, see Pet. Briefat * 7 but does not otherwise develop that argument in 
the brief, see generally Pet. Briefat * 21-29. This court has repeatedly stated that the failure to 
develop an argument constitutes a forfeiture of any asserted right. See [cite from hyung brief]. 
However, even if this court determines Petitioner has sufficiently developed that argument, for 
the reasons set forth in this section, Petitioner's contention is baseless. 
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There can be no doubt that it is improper for a prosecutor to blatantly express his personal 

opinion, specifically with respect to the credibility of a witness or the guilt of the defendant, 

during closing argument. Syl. pt. 3, State v. Critzer, 167 W. Va. 655, 280 S.E.2d 288 (1981); 

State v. Grubbs, 178 W. Va. 811, 816 n. 15, 364 S.E.2d 824, 829 (1987)("Expressions of 

personal opinion by the prosecutor are a form of unsworn, unchecked testimony and tend to 

exploit the influence of the prosecutor's office and undermine the objective detachment that 

should separate a lawyer from the cause being argued."). However, this court has also generally 

recognized that "great latitude is allowed counsel in the argument of cases," State v. Kennedy, 

162 W. Va. 244, 249, 249 S.E.2d 188, 191 (1978)(quoting State v. Lohm, 97 W.Va. 652, 125 

S.E. 758 (1924» and has specifically stated that "[t]he prosecutor may argue all reasonable 

inferences from evidence in the record," Grubbs, 178 W. Va. at 816 n.l5, 364 S.E.2d at 829 

(1987)(citing United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 9 (1985». Moreover, this court has made it 

clear that litigants have a duty to make a timely objection to closing remarks they believe are 

improper, Syl. pt. 7, Yuncke v. Welker, 128 W. Va. 299, 300,36 S.E.2d 410,411 (1945)("Failure 

to make timely and proper objection to remarks of counsel made in the presence of the jury, 

during the trial of a case, constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the question thereafter either in 

the trial court or in the appellate cOurt."),1O and has also expressed significant reticence to 

granting relief on the basis of improper remarks during closing when no objection is made 

below, Grubbs, 178 W. Va. at 818, 364 S.E.2d at 832 (1987)("[T]he doctrine of plain error with 

regard to objectionable closing remarks is sparingly applied. This rule requires counsel to make 

timely objections so that the matter can be corrected at the trial court level. There is obviously a 

10 See also State v. Cirullo, 142 W. Va. 56, 93 S.E.2d 526 (1956); Landers v. Ohio River R. Co., 
46 W. Va. 492, 33 S.E. 296 (1899); State v. Trogdon, 168 W. Va. 204,207,283 S.E.2d 849, 851 
(1981)(per curiam). 

34 




considerable tactical advantage to be gained if counsel can remain silent and then press the point 

on appeal through the plain error doctrine."). Petitioner did not object to any of the remarks he 

now identifies as objectionable. II As the aforementioned authority demonstrates, that alone is 

enough to foreclose Petitioner's argument. But even if the court determines it is proper to 

examine the substance of the prosecutor's comments, it is apparent that remarks at issue did not

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